Service Committee Committee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

Cause No. 2005-IA-001827-SCT

OUALCOMM INCORPORATED

VS.

AMERICAN WIRELESS LICENSE GROUP, LLO

APPELLEES

APPELLANTS

Consolidated With: Cause No. 2005-IA-01829-SCT

2005-IA-1841

OUALCOMM INCORPORATED

APPELLANTS

VS.

HOMER A. WHITTINGTON, JR., as Trustee for the Homer A. Whittington, Jr. Revocable Trust, et al.

APPELLEES

(For Continuation of Caption See Inside Cover)

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE TOMIE T. GREEN, CIRCUIT JUDGE

OPENING BRIEF OF THE LEAP DEFENDANTS (APPELLANTS)

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Defendants Harvey P. White, Scot B. Jarvis, Susan G. Swenson, Thomas J. Bernard, Jeffrey P. Williams, Anthony R. Chase, Michael B. Targoff, Jill E. Barad, Robert C. Dynes, James E. Hoffmann, Stewart Douglas Hutcheson, Daniel O. Pegg and Leonard C. Stephens (collectively, the "Leap Defendants") respectfully submit this opening brief in support of their appeal of orders of the Circuit Court of Hinds County (Honorable Tomie T. Green, presiding) denying their motions to compel arbitration and stay proceedings under the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, or, in the alternative, to dismiss pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) the Original Complaint filed in American Wireless License Group, LLC v. White, Case No. 251-03-692 CIV ("American Wireless") and the First Amended and Restated Complaint filed in Whittington v. White, Case No. 251-03-175 CIV ("Whittington").

INTRODUCTION

The Circuit Court erred in applying the law to the Leap Defendants' motions. As discussed below, the Circuit Court should have dismissed these actions in their entirety or sent them to arbitration.

On February 7, 2001, Leap Wireless International, Inc. ("Leap") entered into an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Licenses (the "Agreement") with American Wireless License Group, LLC ("AWG"). Pursuant to that Agreement, Leap issued approximately 1.9 million unregistered shares of Leap stock to AWG in exchange for several wireless telephone licenses held by AWG. The transaction closed on June 8, 2001. Shortly thereafter, Leap registered AWG's Leap stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") by filing a Form S-3 registration statement (the "June 2001 Registration Statement"). In "the fall of 2001," AWG began selling its Leap stock in the public stock market pursuant to the June 2001 Registration Statement. Several of AWG's members (the "Whittington Plaintiffs") (together with AWG, "Plaintiffs") allegedly purchased Leap stock in the public stock market "in the period following September 2001."

In June 2001 (when AWG acquired its Leap stock), Leap stock was trading at around \$30.00 per share. As a result of the downturn in the telecommunications industry, the value of Leap stock began to decline. By September 2001 (when the Whittington Plaintiffs allegedly purchased their Leap stock), the price of Leap stock had fallen to around \$15.00 per share. Thereafter, the price of Leap stock continued to decline. By July 2002, Leap stock was trading below \$1.00 per share. Leap eventually filed for bankruptcy in April 2003.

AWG and the Whittington Plaintiffs now have buyers' remorse. Dissatisfied with how their investment in Leap stock turned out, they filed the American Wireless and Whittington actions against the Leap Defendants in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. Plaintiffs claim, in hindsight, that Leap and its management (the Leap Defendants) failed to warn them that a purchase price adjustment dispute with a company named MCG PCS, Inc. ("MCG"), which also sold wireless licenses to Leap, could result in Leap paying additional amounts in Leap stock to MCG in the future; that Leap stock was subject to dilution in the future; and that additional issuances of Leap stock could trigger a default under certain of Leap's loan covenants in the future. Plaintiffs assert five claims for relief: under Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, Sections 717(a)(2) and 719 of the Mississippi Securities Act, and common law. There are several problems with Plaintiffs' claims.

First, Plaintiffs do not have legal standing to pursue claims under Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the "1933 Act"). Section 11 provides for civil liability for issuing a false or misleading registration statement. To have legal standing under Section 11, plaintiffs must have purchased shares that were issued and sold pursuant to the allegedly false or misleading registration statement – in this case, the June 2001 Registration Statement. By its own admission, AWG did not purchase Leap stock that was issued and sold pursuant to the June 2001 Registration Statement. Rather, AWG purchased Leap stock in a private offering that closed before the June 2001 Registration Statement was filed or became effective. With respect to the Whittington Plaintiffs, they admit that they purchased their Leap stock in the public securities market several months after Leap filed the June 2001 Registration Statement. At the times of

their purchases, over 34 million shares of Leap stock were outstanding and being traded in the public market. Those shares were issued and sold pursuant to several different registration statements going back to September 1998. The Whittington Plaintiffs do not plead any facts that would suggest the shares of Leap stock they purchased were issued and sold pursuant to the June 2001 Registration Statement, as opposed to the other registration statements Leap filed over the years. Because the Whittington Plaintiffs do not (and, indeed, cannot) show that the shares they purchased were issued and sold pursuant to the June-2001 Registration Statement, they do not have standing to pursue Section 11 claims based on the allegedly false or misleading statements that appeared in that registration statement.

Second, Plaintiffs cannot show that the allegedly false or misleading statements in the June 2001 Registration Statement caused their alleged losses. Plaintiffs claim that (i) the Leap Defendants failed to disclose certain information about Leap's purchase price adjustment dispute with MCG; and (ii) their alleged losses are attributable to the "revelation" in August 2002 of an unfavorable outcome in that purchase price adjustment dispute. But AWG admits that it disposed of all of its Leap stock by December 2001, almost eight months before the Leap Defendants allegedly made the "first significant disclosures" regarding the purchase price adjustment dispute. With respect to the Whittington Plaintiffs' alleged losses, the publicly available stock records show that Leap's stock price had already fallen below \$1.00 per share before the alleged "revelation" in August 2002. Under these circumstances, AWG and the Whittington Plaintiffs simply cannot show that the Leap Defendants' allegedly false or misleading statements, and the eventual disclosure of those false or misleading statements, caused their alleged losses.

Third, on the face of AWG's Original Complaint (the "AWG Complaint"), the Whittington Plaintiffs' First Amended and Restated Complaint (the "FARC"), and the documents incorporated therein, it is clear that AWG and the Whittington Plaintiffs were explicitly warned of all the risks they claim were omitted from Leap's public filings. During June 2001, Leap specifically disclosed to both AWG and the Whittington Plaintiffs that, *inter*

alia, (1) Leap had issued additional shares of stock, which would dilute the value of the Leap stock then outstanding; (2) Leap had purchased wireless licenses from MCG, and MCG was asserting in arbitration that it was entitled to a purchase price adjustment because of an alleged change in the market value of wireless licenses; (3) Leap could pay the purchase price adjustment in cash or stock, at its discretion; and (4) Leap was significantly leveraged, and its credit facilities included change of control provisions, which could trigger default if a substantial number of shares were issued. Because these are the precise risks Plaintiffs contend were omitted from the June 2001 Registration Statement, their claims fail as a matter of law. For these reasons, and others, the Circuit Court should have dismissed the American Wireless and Whittington actions in their entirety.

Even if the Circuit Court correctly denied the Leap Defendants' motions to dismiss, it nevertheless should have sent these actions to arbitration. Section 12.11 of the Agreement contains a broad arbitration clause, providing for binding arbitration of any dispute claim or controversy "arising under" the Agreement or in any way "related to" the Agreement. Based on the facts pleaded by Plaintiffs, it appears on the face of the AWG Complaint and the FARC that these actions arise under and relate to the Agreement. Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that the Leap Defendants, acting on behalf of and in concert with Leap, induced AWG to enter into the Agreement and induced AWG to purchase Leap stock. Plaintiffs also allege that AWG entered into the Agreement on behalf of the Whittington Plaintiffs and that the Agreement was intended to benefit them individually by placing Leap stock in their hands. Finally, Plaintiffs' claims are based almost entirely on the alleged inadequacy of the risk disclosures in the June 2001 Registration Statement, which Leap filed pursuant to its obligations under the Agreement. Thus, the Circuit Court should have compelled Plaintiffs to arbitrate their claims and stayed all proceedings in these actions pending arbitration.

The Circuit Court erred in denying the Leap Defendants' motions. This Court should remand these actions to the Circuit Court with instructions to enter orders dismissing these

actions in their entirety. In the alternative, this Court should remand these actions to the Circuit Court with instructions to enter orders compelling Plaintiffs to arbitrate their claims.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the Leap Defendants' Motion to Dismiss in American Wireless.
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the Leap Defendants' Motion to Dismiss in Whittington.
- 3. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the Leap Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings in American Wireless.
- 4. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the Leap Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings in *Whittington*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

The American Wireless and Whittington actions are securities cases. Plaintiffs in both actions assert five claims for relief: under Sections 11 and 15 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77k and 77o, Sections 717(a)(2) and 719 of the Mississippi Securities Act (the "MSA"), and common law. The Leap Defendants are current and former officers and directors of Leap. QUALCOMM Incorporated ("Qualcomm") is an entity that allegedly "controlled" Leap during the relevant period. Leap is not named as a defendant in American Wireless or Whittington.

II. PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

On December 31, 2002, several of the Whittington Plaintiffs filed the Whittington action in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County against the Leap Defendants and Qualcomm. Whitt. Rec. at 7.1 On May 16, 2003, the Whittington Plaintiffs filed their FARC. *Id.* at 101.

References to "Whitt. Rec. at __" are to the Appellate Record in Whittington.

On June 6, 2003, AWG filed the American Wireless action in the First Judicial District of Hinds County against the Leap Defendants, Qualcomm, and UBS Paine Webber, Inc. ("UBS"). AWG Rec. at 7.² The American Wireless action is virtually identical to the Whittington action. Both actions assert exactly the same claims, predicated on exactly the same facts.³

On January 28, 2005, the Leap Defendants filed motions to compel arbitration and stay proceedings, or in the alternative, to dismiss the *American Wireless* and *Whittington* actions. AWG Rec. at 1289; Whitt. Rec. at 514. On or about September 12, 2005, the Circuit Court denied those motions, but *sua sponte* certified its orders for interlocutory appeal. AWG Rec. at 2934, 2938; Whitt. Rec. at 1875-1878.

On September 26, 2005, the Leap Defendants appealed the Circuit Court's orders denying their motions to compel arbitration in *American Wireless* and *Whittington* (the "direct appeals"). On September 28, 2005, the Leap Defendants filed a petition for permission to appeal the Circuit Court's order denying their motion to dismiss in *American Wireless*. On October 4, 2005, the Leap Defendants filed a petition for permission to appeal the Circuit Court's order denying their motion to dismiss in *Whittington*. On October 14, 2005, the Leap Defendants moved to consolidate the direct appeals.

On October 21, 2005, this Court granted the Leap Defendants' motion to consolidate the direct appeals. That same day, this Court also granted the Leap Defendants' petition for permission to appeal the Circuit Court's order denying their motion to dismiss in *American Wireless*. On October 25, 2005, this Court granted the Leap Defendants' petition for permission

² References to "AWG Rec. at __" are to the Appellate Record in American Wireless. Because the American Wireless action is virtually identical to the Whittington action (see infra), the appellate records in these actions are virtually identical as well. For the Court's convenience, the Leap Defendants have cited to the American Wireless record only whenever possible.

³ On May 29, 2003, the Leap Defendants removed the *Whittington* action to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. Whitt. Rec. at 222-228. The Leap Defendants removed the *American Wireless* action to the Southern District of Mississippi on June 26, 2003. AWG Rec. at 88-90. On November 10, 2004, the Honorable David C. Bramlette of the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi remanded the *American Wireless* and *Whittington* actions to the First Judicial District of Hinds County.

to appeal the Circuit Court's order denying their motion to dismiss in *Whittington*. This Court then consolidated the Leap Defendants' interlocutory appeals with their direct appeals.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Leap

Leap was a low-cost provider of wireless telephone services in local markets across the United States.⁴ AWG Rec. at 1323 (June 2001 Registration Statement). Leap conducted operations through its subsidiaries. Cricket Communications, Inc. ("Cricket") was Leap's principal operating subsidiary. Cricket offered wireless telephone services under the brand name "Cricket." Cricket service allowed customers to (i) make and receive virtually unlimited calls within a local calling area; and (ii) receive unlimited calls from any area for a flat monthly rate.

Leap was originally formed as a subsidiary of Qualcomm. AWG Rec. at 1327. In September 1998, Leap was "spun off" to be owned and operated independently of Qualcomm. *Id.* at 1327, 1360. In connection with this "spin off," Qualcomm issued and registered approximately 17 million shares of Leap stock. Between September 1998 and May 2001, Leap conducted two public offerings and issued and registered millions of additional shares of Leap stock pursuant to several different registration statements. *Id.* at 1474-1492 (cover pages of several of Leap's SEC filings, each of which reflects issuances of Leap common stock). As of June 5, 2001, approximately 34 million shares of Leap stock were outstanding. *Id.* at 1359 (June

⁴ On a motion to dismiss, the Court may consider documents relied on by plaintiffs in the complaint. See Sennett v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 757 So.2d 206, 209 (Miss. 2000). The Court may also take judicial notice of and consider documents of public record such as filings with the SEC. See Miss. R. Evid. 201(f) ("Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding"); Allyn v. Wortman, 725 So.2d 94, 99, 103 (Miss. 1998) (considering SEC filings on motion to dismiss); Ditto v. Hinds County, 665 So.2d 878, 880 (Miss. 1995) (court may take judicial notice of public records). Copies of such documents were attached to (i) the Declaration of David W. Clark in Support of the Leap Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings or, in the Alternative, to Dismiss Plaintiff's Original Complaint, filed in American Wireless; and (ii) the Declaration of David W. Clark in Support of the Leap Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings or, in the Alternative, to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Amended and Restated Complaint, filed in Whittington. AWG Rec. at 1314-1317; Whitt. Rec. at 560-563. These documents were before the Circuit Court when it considered and denied the Leap Defendants' motions.

2001 Registration Statement). Until December 2002, Leap stock traded publicly on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "LWIN." *Id.* at 8 (AWG Compl. ¶ 2).

Leap was subject to restrictive loan covenants during the relevant period. AWG Rec. at 1334-1336. Leap's vendor credit agreement with Ericsson Credit AB, for example, defined an event of default to include a "change of control," which would occur if an entity other than Leap acquired beneficial ownership of Leap stock representing 20% or more of the combined voting power of all Leap shares then outstanding. *Id.* at 1604, 1611-1612, 1676-1678 (Credit Agreement between Cricket Communications Holdings, Inc., Cricket Communications, Inc. and Ericsson Credit AB, dated October 20, 2000). Leap's vendor credit agreements with Lucent Technologies, Inc. and Nortel Networks, Inc. contained similar provisions. Leap attached copies of these agreements to its SEC filings, which were themselves incorporated by reference into the June 2001 Registration Statement.

B. The Leap Defendants

The Leap Defendants are current and former officers and directors of Leap or its successor in interest. See AWG Rec. at 1296 (Chart of Named Defendants). According to AWG and the Whittington Plaintiffs, the Leap Defendants acted "on behalf of," "in concert and conspiracy" with, "aided and abetted," and "carried out a plan, scheme or course of conduct" with Leap during the relevant period.⁷

⁵ See AWG Rec. at 1777, 1784, 1849-1851 (Credit Agreement between Cricket Communications Holdings, Inc., Cricket Communications, Inc. and Lucent Technologies, dated September 20, 1999, as Amended and Restated as of October 20, 2000), 2077, 2084, 2151-2153 (Credit Agreement dated as of August 28, 2000 among Cricket Communications Holdings, Inc., Cricket Communications, Inc. and Nortel Networks, Inc.).

⁶ See AWG Rec. at 1601-1603 (cover page and exhibit list from Leap's quarterly results on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2000, as filed with the SEC on November 14, 2000), 1776 (cover page from Leap's annual results on Form 10-K for the period ended August 31, 1999, as filed with the SEC on October 20, 1999), 2074-2076 (cover page and exhibit list from Leap's quarterly results on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2000, as filed with the SEC on November 14, 2000), 1367-1369 (June 2001 Registration Statement, incorporating by reference the aforementioned SEC filings).

⁷ AWG Rec. at 65-66, 69-70, 71, 77-79, 81-83 (AWG Compl. ¶¶ 72, 76, 83, 102, 104, 109); Whitt. Rec. at 172-173, 176-177, 178, 184-186, 188-190 (FARC ¶¶ 73, 77, 84, 103, 105, 110).

C. AWG and the Whittington Plaintiffs

AWG is a Mississippi limited liability company. AWG Rec. at 8 (AWG Compl. ¶ 2). AWG owned wireless telephone licenses for certain areas in the southeastern United States, including Jackson, Mississippi, Birmingham, Alabama, Tuscaloosa, Alabama, and Jonesboro, Arkansas. In June 2001, AWG sold these licenses to Leap for approximately 1.9 million unregistered shares of Leap stock. *Id.* at 9 (AWG Compl. ¶ 3).

The Whittington Plaintiffs are alleged members of AWG (akin to owners). Whitt. Rec. at 104 (FARC ¶ 4). They allegedly purchased Leap stock in the public securities market "in the period following September 2001." *Id.* at 115-125; *see also* 104, 185-186 (FARC ¶ 4, 15, 105).

D. The AWG Transaction

Leap, like all providers of wireless telephone services, had to obtain licenses to use the radio spectrum in a particular geographic area. Leap acquired many of its wireless licenses through acquisitions from existing holders. Leap frequently used its stock as consideration for these acquisitions.

One of Leap's acquisitions involved wireless licenses owned by AWG. On February 7, 2001, Leap and AWG entered into an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Licenses (the "Agreement"), which required Leap to pay for AWG's licenses with unregistered shares of Leap stock. AWG Rec. at 9 (AWG Compl. ¶ 3), 1493, 1495, 1500-1502 (Sections 2.1, 2.2, 4.9, and 4.10 of the Agreement). Leap and AWG agreed to arbitrate "any dispute, claim or controversy arising under th[e] Agreement or in any way related to th[e] Agreement." AWG Rec. at 1520-1521 (Section 12.11 of the Agreement).

The AWG transaction closed on June 8, 2001. *Id.* at 50-51 (AWG Compl. ¶ 52). On that date, Leap transferred approximately 1.9 million unregistered shares of Leap stock directly to AWG. *Id.* at 9, 50-52 (AWG Compl. ¶¶ 3, 52, 54). Leap transferred those shares in a private offering that, as expressly agreed, was not subject to the registration requirements of the 1933 Act. *Id.* at 1500-1501 (Section 4.9 of the Agreement). Leap agreed to register those shares after

their transfer to AWG so that AWG could sell them in the public market at a later date. *Id.* at 1507 (Section 7.4(a) of the Agreement).

On June 11, 2001, Leap registered AWG's Leap stock with the SEC by filing the June 2001 Registration Statement. *Id.* at 51-52 (AWG Compl. ¶ 54), 1319-1321 (June 2001 Registration Statement). In the June 2001 Registration Statement, Leap disclosed:

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