## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI Cause No. 2005-IA- 001827-SCT

#### QUALCOMM INCORPORATED

**APPELLANTS** 

VS.

### AMERICAN WIRELESS LICENSE GROUP, LLC APPELLEES

## Consolidated With: Cause No. 2005-IA-01829-SCT

#### **QUALCOMM INCORPORATED**

**APPELLANTS** 

VS.

HOMER A. WHITTINGTON, JR., as Trustee for the Homer A. Whittington, Jr. Revocable Trust, *et al.*  APPELLEES

(Caption Continued On Inside Cover)

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# BRIEF OF THE WHITTINGTON PLAINTIFFS (APPELLEES) IN RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF APPELLANT LEAP DEFENDANTS ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Leap Defendants' Motion (and this Appeal) was merely another attempt by the Leap Defendants' to delay and postpone discovery and the inevitable trial on the merits in this matter. The Leap Defendants cannot establish that: (1) a valid arbitration agreement governs the Whittington Plaintiffs' claims, or alternatively, (2) they have met their heavy burden that the Whittington Plaintiff's claims should be dismissed before discovery has even commenced

The Circuit Court properly denied the Leap Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration because the Leap Defendants cannot demonstrate that a valid arbitration agreement exists between the Leap Defendants and the Whittington Plaintiffs where, as here, no party is a signatory to an arbitration agreement. It is well settled that "[a]rbitration is a matter of contract between the relevant parties [and] <u>no</u> party can be required to arbitrate absent an agreement to do so." *McKenzie Check Advance of Miss., LLC v. Hardy*, 866 So. 2d 446, 450 (Miss. 2004) (emphasis added). Here, neither the Leap Defendants nor the Whittington Plaintiffs executed an applicable arbitration agreement or agreed to arbitrate the claims at issue. Therefore, this matter cannot be compelled to arbitration and the Circuit Court's ruling should be affirmed. The Circuit Court correctly denied the Leap Defendants' Motion, and the Whittington Plaintiffs have a right to have their claims heard by a jury after discovery has been conducted.

The Circuit Court also properly denied Leap Defendants' Motion to Dismiss because the Leap Defendants at this preliminary stage of litigation simply cannot meet the heavy burden that they must meet in order to prevail on their Motion to Dismiss. To prevail on their Motion, the Leap Defendants must establish that (i) when all the facts pled in the Complaint are taken as true and (ii) when the Complaint is construed liberally in favor of the Whittington Plaintiffs; (iii) it still "appears beyond doubt [that] the [Whittington Plaintiffs] will not be able to prove any set of facts in support of [their] claim[s]." *Black v. City of Tupelo*, 853 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Miss.

2003); see also Poindexter v. Southern United Fire Ins. Co., 838 So. 2d 964, 966 (Miss. 2003) (quoting Sennett v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 757 So. 2d 206, 209 (Miss. 2000).

The Whittington Plaintiffs have clearly stated claims for common law fraud as well as for the Leap Defendants' violations of the Securities Act of Mississippi, and sections 11 and 15 of the federal Securities Act of 1933 (the "1933 Act"). For example, when the factual allegations of the Complaints are taken as true, as they must be at this juncture, they establish that the Leap Defendants acted in concert with the Co-Conspirators<sup>2</sup> to induce the Whittington Plaintiffs to purchase and to retain their shares of Leap common stock ("Leap Stock") to the Whittington Plaintiffs' detriment. In addition, under the unique facts present here, including the "work around the problem," the Whittington Plaintiffs have properly pled a violation of Section 11 as the Complaint clearly demonstrates that the Whittington Plaintiffs purchased the Leap Stock at issue pursuant to a Registration Statement that contained numerous material misrepresentations and omissions. Further, the Whittington Plaintiffs have standing to assert these claims because the Registration Statement at issue was filed for the sole purpose of selling the Leap Stock to AWG and in turn to the Whittington Plaintiffs. As the Whittington Plaintiffs have asserted viable Section 11 claims, the Leap Defendants liability under Section 15 is clear because the Leap Defendants were Leap's officers and directors.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review by a Mississippi appellate court of a circuit court's denial of a motion to compel arbitration or a motion to dismiss is *de novo*, such that this Court must perform the same review as did the circuit court below. *Arceo v. Tolliver*, 2006 WL 3317036 \*2 (Miss.

<sup>2</sup> The Whittington Plaintiffs alleged that UBS PaineWebber, Inc., Roger Davis, James O'Brien, Collette Fleming, and QUALCOMM acted in concert with the Leap Defendants to perpetrate the Fraud against the Plaintiffs. UBS, Davis, O'Brien and Fleming were not parties to this action. Plaintiffs' Claims against the UBS Defendants were the subject of an arbitration before the National Association of Securities Dealers and have since been settled.

2006); Holman Dealerships, Inc. v. Davis, 934 So. 2d 356, 358 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); Pruitt v. Hancock Medical Center, 942 So. 2d 797, 800 (Miss. 2006). However, if the actions of a trial court can be upheld for any reason, the appellate court should affirm. Gates v. Gates, 616 So. 2d 888, 890 (Miss. 1993); Vinson v. Roth-Roffy, 829 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Further, this Court must affirm where there is **any** ground disclosed by the record upon which the decision could have properly been reached, notwithstanding the lower court did not make explicit its grounds. DeFoe v. Great Southern Nat. Bank, N.A., 547 So. 2d 786, 789 (Miss. 1989) (citations omitted).

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion to dismiss, this Court must consider the allegations of the complaint to be true, and the motion to dismiss "should not be granted unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim." *Park on Lakeland Drive, Inc. v. Spence,* 941 So. 2d 203, 206 (Miss. 2006). (citations omitted).

#### **ARGUMENT**

Although the Leap Defendants addressed the denial of their motion to dismiss first in the opening brief, the Court must first decide whether this dispute is properly before the Court or whether it should be arbitrated. Critical to this inquiry is the fact that <u>neither the Whittington</u> <u>Plaintiffs nor the Leap Defendants are signatories to any arbitration agreement that</u> <u>compels arbitration of this matter</u>. Despite the fact that the Leap Defendants cannot cite to a single case in which this Court or any other has compelled two non-signatories to arbitration, the Leap Defendants contend that this matter should be compelled to arbitration. If this Court agrees that the Whittington Plaintiffs' claims should be arbitrated, then it cannot rule on the Leap Defendants' motion to dismiss, as it would be without jurisdiction to do so since these claims would have to be arbitrated.

AWG has recently agreed to arbitrate its claims and has filed a statement of claim with the AAA. Therefore, the issue to be resolved by the Court is whether the Leap Defendants, who are <u>non-signatories</u>, can enforce the arbitration clause in the Agreement against other <u>nonsignatories</u> – the Whittington Plaintiffs. The Whittington Plaintiffs did not sign the Agreement, which contains the arbitration clause (Whit. R. 684), and neither did the Leap Defendants. *Id.* The Leap Defendants are asking the Court to vastly expand current arbitration law and pen groundbreaking arbitration law precedent. <u>Again, neither the Whittington Plaintiffs nor the Leap Defendants are signatories to any arbitration agreement that compels arbitration of this matter</u>. As discussed below, the Agreement binds only the two corporations and in no way binds its officers and directors. *See FDIC v. Trans Pacific Industries, Inc.*, 14 F.3d 10, 12 (5th Cir. 1994) (individual who signs promissory note manifests that he is signing in representative capacity where agent names his principal and places "by:" before his signature or follows it with a display of agency status, "preferably his title in the represented institution.").

## I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE LEAP DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION

The Agreement containing the arbitration clause at issue (which explicitly prohibits enforcement by non-parties), was "by and between . . . [AWG], a Mississippi limited liability company ("Seller"), and Leap . . . a Delaware corporation ("Buyer"). Whit. R. 656. The Agreement defines the Seller as AWG and it is signed "by" Wirt A Yerger, III as "its Manager and CEO." Whit. R. 656; 684. Similarly, the Agreement sets forth the Buyer as Leap and it is signed "by" Harvey P. White ("White"), as "Its: Chairman and CEO." *Id.* The Agreement between AWG and Leap explicitly limits enforcement by non-parties by stating:

This agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their successor and Permitted Assigns. The successors and permitted assigns hereunder shall include without limitation, in the case of Buyer, any permitted Assignee as well as the successors in interest to such Permitted Assignee. Nothing in this agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be

10

# construed to confer upon any Person other than the parties and successors, and Permitted Assignees, any right remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.

Whit. R. 682.

The Agreement defines "permitted assignees" as, "Affiliates, subsidiaries, successors and assigns." Id. Furthermore, the provision at issue, Section 12.11, states, "... any dispute, claim or controversy arising under this Agreement or in any way related to this Agreement, or its interpretation, enforceability or inapplicability may be submitted to bonding arbitration at the election of either **Buyer or Seller**." Whit. R. 683-84 (emphasis added). The term "Buyer" is defined in the Agreement as Leap. Similarly, the term "Seller" is defined as AWG. Whit. R. 656. In addition, the language of the arbitration provision says that disputes "may" be submitted to binding arbitration. Whit, R. 683-84. The word "may" customarily connotes discretion. Jama v. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, 543 U.S. 335, 346 (2005). In Local 189, Service Emp. Union v. Scot Lad Foods, Inc., 513 F. Supp. 839 (D.C. Ill. 1981), the union brought an action to compel an employer to arbitrate a labor dispute. The court was called upon to consider a provision of a collective bargaining agreement that stated that the union "may request" arbitration. Id. at 841. The Local 189 court held that the inference could clearly be drawn that the use of the word "may" gave the employer the option of rejecting a request for arbitration. Here the inference can be clearly drawn that AWG and anyone alleged to be bound by AWG, -i.e., the Whittington Plaintiffs -- can choose to reject arbitration and instead bring its action in state court.

The Circuit Court correctly denied the Leap Defendants' motion to compel arbitration because the Whittington Plaintiffs cannot be compelled to arbitrate their current disputes with the Leap Defendants.

11

# A. Neither the Whittington Plaintiffs nor the Leap Defendants Were Signatories to the American Wireless/Leap Wireless Agreement.

"[T]he first question to be addressed in adjudicating a motion to compel arbitration under the FAA is 'whether the parties agreed to arbitrate the dispute in question."" *American Heritage Life Ins. Co. v. Lang*, 321 F.3d 533, 537 (5th Cir. 2003) (quoting *Webb v. Investacorp.*, 89 F.3d 252, 258 (5th Cir. 1996)). The answer here is "no". Neither the Whittington Plaintiffs nor the Leap Defendants are signatories to any arbitration agreement that compels arbitration of this matter. The Agreement was by and between AWG (Seller), and Leap (Buyer). Whit. R. 656. The Agreement defines the Seller as AWG and it is signed "by" Wirt A Yerger, III as "its Manager and CEO." Similarly, the Agreement sets forth the Buyer as Leap and it is signed "by" Harvey P. White ("White"), as "Its: Chairman and CEO." Whit. R. 656; 684. The Agreement binds only the two corporations and in no way binds its officers, directors or members. *See FDIC v. Trans Pacific Industries, Inc.*, 14 F.3d 10, 12 (5th Cir. 1994) (individual who signs promissory note manifests that he is signing in representative capacity where agent names his principal and places "by:" before his signature or follows it with a display of agency status, "preferably his title in the represented institution.").

Like the Whittington Plaintiffs, the Leap Defendants were also not signatories to the Agreement with the arbitration clause. The Leap Defendants incorrectly argue that "most of the Leap Defendants did not sign the agreement," because the fact is that <u>none</u> of the Leap Defendants signed the Agreement. White signed the agreement in his official capacity, not in his individual capacity. The Agreement was signed "by" White as "Chairman and CEO" of Leap. Whit. R. 684. A corporation can act only through its agents and there is no indication that either Yerger or White was signing the Agreement in their individual capacities. Accordingly, Defendant White was not a signatory to the Agreement in his individual capacity. See, Shemper v. Hancock Bank, 40 So. 2d 742, 744 (Miss. 1949) (a person who signs an instrument using

words indicating that he signed for and on behalf of a principal is not liable on the instrument if he was duly authorized to sign). Therefore, <u>all</u> of the named Defendants are non-signatories to the Agreement.

In sum, this Court has a situation where no Plaintiff and no Defendant signed an arbitration contract governing the dispute here. There is no case when arbitration has been compelled where, as here, not a single party in the lawsuit (plaintiffs or defendants) was a signatory to the arbitration agreement.

# B. The claims of AWG and the Whittington Plaintiffs are based on the Leap Defendants' individual conduct and do not arise from the Agreement.

The estoppel or "intertwining theory" is inapplicable in this case because, the claims against the Leap Defendants, non-signatories to the Agreement, are not "intertwined with the agreement that the estopped party has signed." Bridas S.A.P.I.C. v. Government of Turkmenistan, 345 F.3d 347, 361 (5th Cir. 2003). The current facts are similar to the facts of Primerica Financial Services, Inc., v. Coley, 192 F. Supp. 2d 655 (N.D. Miss. 2002). Coley, a signatory, brought an action against PFS and PLIC, both non-signatories, based on their individual misconduct. PFS and PLIC sought to compel arbitration based upon a contract between Coley and their affiliate company, PFSI. The Coley Court held the investor's claims against PFS and PLIC did not fall within the arbitration clause even though the two companies were affiliated with PFSI. The Coley Court concluded: (1) "the signatory Coley has not raised allegations of 'substantially interdependent and concerted' misconduct by both the non-signatory Plaintiff, PFS and PLIC, and the signatory PFSI; indeed PFSI is not a party to Coley's ... **lawsuit**"; and (2) "there [was] no evidence before the court indicating that Coley must rely on the terms of her agreement with PFSI asserting her claims against the Plaintiff." Id. at 657-658. (emphasis added) The Coley Court concentrated on the fact that the complaint focused on PFS and PLIC's conduct and not PFSI's conduct. The Coley Court noted that PFSI was not a named

party, which further evidenced that the claims were not intertwined. See also, Bridas, 345 F.3d at 361 (refusing to compel arbitration where the party sought to be esttopped did not sign a contract containing an arbitration provision and never sued on the agreement.)

As in *Coley* and *Bridas*, the Whittington Plaintiffs' complaint is based solely on the Leap Defendants' individual misconduct and does not invoke the terms of the Agreement. The Whittington Plaintiffs did not name Leap as a defendant. The tort claims against the Leap Defendants are not based on contractual duties that arose from the Agreement but are based upon common law fraud and statutory duties that arise independently and separately from the existence of the Agreement.

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